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5.0 ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT 

visual relationship between the landscape and the Orangery. The report by 

Todd Longstaffe-Gowan Ltd makes clear that even when first planted the 

present design of the lawn was considered a temporary measure and at an 

early point the opportunity to better reveal the historic character of the 

Orangery Gardens was identified. The proposals realise this long held 

aspiration. As above the original planned historic gardens are thought to 

predate the Orangery itself, with the building added to compliment the 

landscape. The importance of the relationship between the Orangery and the 

lawn is therefore hard to overstate, with a intrinsically linked significance. The 

proposals better reveal this relationship through a design which draws upion 

the eighteenth century historic plan of the garden and acknowledges the 

Orangery's central  location and baroque design. Therefore the refurbishment 

of the Orangery Gardens in such a manner is considered to be a significant 

enhancement to the Registered Park and Garden as well as the setting of the 

listed building, thus providing a significant heritage benefit. 

 

garden to the north of the Orangery (see Figure 32). If achieved, this evocation of the 

eighteenth century garden design would impose a renewed focus on the northern 

elevation of the building at the termination of a path to the north of the Orangery.  

HRP are currently in consultation with the Royal Parks in relation to the long term 

aspirations for the refurbishment of the area to the north of the Orangery.  

Refurbishment of the Orangery Gardens to the south.  

As set out in the detailed Landscape Statement produced by Todd Longstaffe-Gowan 

Ltd, the proposals will see the refurbishment of the Orangery Gardens, informed by 

an understanding of the historic development of the landscape. In the absence of 

detailed archaeological evidence to support reinstatement of the original early 

eighteenth century garden, the proposals will create a new layer of landscape which 

has been informed by the circa 1730s and twentieth century development of the 

Orangery Garden. The proposals will reassert the historic central avenue to the south 

of the Orangery. This historic view of the building is currently partially screened by 

several overgrown and declining holly and bay bushes, substantially diminishing the 

Figure 107: John Roques Map of Kensington Gardens, 1736.   

Kensington Gardens, Registered Park and Garden 

In terms of impact to the registered park and garden, the area directly to the 

north of the Orangery once formed part of the oldest of the formal gardens 

which surrounded Kensington Palace. At one time the location of a designed 

landscape known as the ’Wilderness’ laid out by Henry Wise, this name belies 

the considered drama of the original scheme. This used a mix of winding 

paths and a tree covered mound to orchestrate unfolding key views, in 

contrast to the restrained formal geometry of the parterre gardens to the 

south adjacent to the palace, and enclosed Orangery yard. The map of 1702 

(Figure 34) indicates that these gardens predated the construction of the 

Orangery, and the location of the building may have been informed by the 

added benefit of providing a focal point for these gardens. The site 

assessment as well as the detailed history have indicated that the original 

character of these gardens has now been lost with the gradual erosion of 

Wise’s original design throughout the nineteenth century. This has been 

exacerbated by the division of the ‘Wilderness’ and creation of the recreation 

ground to the north west.  

These changes included the loss of the rear enclosure to the Orangery yard 

and network of pathways to the north, leaving an area of open lawn and 

thinly distributed trees surrounding the location of the proposals. It has been 

identified that this area of Kensington Gardens is particularly underused, in 

part due to the location near to the busy access road leading from Bayswater 

Road to the palace, as well as the use of temporary marquees within this 

locale needed to provide adequate catering facilities. The effect has been to 

impose a ‘Back of House’ character to this area of the park fundamentally at 

odds with the original significance of this location which when first created, 

enjoyed particular royal attention, considered to be Queen Anne’s primary 

interest in the design of her palace. The proposals will therefore reintroduce 

a sense of place commensurate with the original eighteenth century designs 

of the gardens. This will be achieved by the restoration of the rear garden 

enclosure to the Orangery yard. 

In particular the back of house character of this area of the park has been 

directly addressed, with the desired reduction of the traffic enabled through 

the provision of adequate on site storage and catering facilities within the 

new extension. This has been achieved with minimal visual intrusion into 

existing views within the park by retaining the bank of trees directly to the 

north of the Orangery seen in Figure 104 (page 50). These trees limit views 

from the north to the Orangery and will screen the proposed single storey 

extension. It is noted that designs are cognisant of Royal Parks long term 

aspirations which potentially include the reinstatement of a more playful 

scheme inspired by the original Henry Wise designs for the Wilderness 
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Installation of a temporary marquee within the south lawn 

A temporary marquee will be constructed on the south lawn to allow for 

planned conservation works to the Orangery. The temporary structure will 

house the restaurant, ensuring ongoing use of the Orangery functions and 

surroundings for events. It is noted that this structure is of a temporary nature 

and will be removed to allow for the completion of the garden installation. The 

location and position of the marquee will ensure that views towards the 

Orangery are retained from in proximity to the Palace. This location and 

alignment has the added benefit of allowing existing channels to be used to 

receive deliveries and guests, placing no further pressures on transport routes. 

Therefore while the marquee will temporarily detract from the sense of 

openness within the existing lawn to the south and will impact upon the 

setting of the Orangery and other relevant built heritage assets, within the 

context of the proposed works the temporary marquee will be of benefit in 

providing additional screening, helping to minimise the overall visual and 

audible disruption before the project completion.       

Removal of shrubbery to rear of northern elevation  

As can be observed from the Charles Bridgeman map of 1733, (Figure 37, page 

19) the recreation of the garden enclosure will reinstate the definition which 

delineated the domestic character of the Orangery yard from the orchestrated 

drama and unfolding views of Wise’s ‘Wilderness’ garden. Analysis of Wise’s 

original ‘Wilderness’ design, Figure 32, page 18, shows the yard to be outside 

of his original scheme. Subsequently it is considered that the loss of the 

shrubbery immediately adjacent to the northern elevation within the historic 

footprint of the yard will not prevent the potential future reinstatement of 

Wise’s original design.  

This area of planting, rather than part of a formal composition, or functioning 

garden ‘nursery’, can be understood to presently serve primarily as screening 

for the array of twentieth century structures attached to the northern 

elevation. Whilst the yard has been historically informally planted, mapping 

indicated that the planting within the yard evolved with the changing use of 

the Orangery itself and the screening shrubbery planting therefore cannot be 

seen to possess an appreciable historic parkscape character. The replacement 

of the indifferent twentieth century buildings and removal of the overgrown 

shrubbery, which currently occupies the rear yard enclosure, with a 

considered design cognisant of the original garden setting and yard enclosure 

boundary will therefore constitute an overall enhancement to this area of the 

Registered Park and Garden. Furthermore, removal of the existing overgrown 

planting will, arguably, enable better views of the Orangery’s rear elevation, 

despite the construction of the new extension. Whilst the extension will be 

5.0 ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT 

clearly visible, it has been sensitively designed to ensure that the Orangery’s northern 

elevation and blind windows remain, at least in part, appreciable whereas they are 

currently almost entirely filtered from view by the existing dense and overgrown 

vegetation.  

Impact to Kensington Palace Conservation Area 

In terms of the impact to the wider Kensington Palace Conservation Area, it is 

considered that the present special interest of the area has been determined to 

reside predominately in the identifiable Palace complex and surrounding park land, 

framed by residential streets to the north, south and west. This form to the 

Conservation Area creates a visual sense of transition from east to west responding 

to the gradual development of the parkland, enclosing the Palace. However by virtue 

of the extensive formal gardens to the east and south of the Palace, this area has 

retained the character of a private residence with associated gardens, separate from 

that of the wider public park, with the rarefied atmosphere and theatre of court 

expressed and still identifiable particularly through the parterre gardens south of the 

Orangery. It has been noted that the location of the Orangery contributes to this 

interpretation of the parkland, highlighting the boundary between the enclosed 

Palace complex and the wider public park, with the alignment of the principle façade 

to the south emphasising the sense of enclosure. The area immediately to the north 

of the Orangery currently possesses an anomalous quality. As a consequence of the 

heavy use of this space for temporary catering services and events equipment 

storage, it neither adequately retains the sense of parkland nor is this area suitably 

equipped to perform this function. This is evidenced by the haphazard and incidental 

character of the ancillary buildings to the north within what was once the Orangery 

yard.   

Consequently, views through the surrounding residential areas to the park and Palace 

along key pathways, as well as the sense of containment appreciable within the 

Palace complex itself, all possess considerable weight in terms of the significance of 

the Conservation Area. The proposals will conserve these views, with the complete 

retention of the southern façade and principle building envelope of the Orangery. 

This will preserve the relationship between the Palace, formal gardens and Orangery 

with no discernible change in views from the south. Similarly there will be no impact 

to long views of the parkland setting from the east with the profile of the proposed 

extension to the Orangery contained within the existing sky line. As noted, 

maintaining a subservience to the existing built fabric of the Orangery has formed a 

core principle of the designed extension, with a scheme developed to convey a 

domestic character from the east and north in keeping with the more informal 

character of the park in these areas. Overall the proposals, in resolving the views to 

the Orangery from the north and reinstating an enclosure, will unify what can 

currently be interpreted as a divided landscape without adversely impacting upon the 

existing hierarchies within the built environment of the Conservation Area.  

Impact to Kensington Palace, Grade I listed and Scheduled Monument 

The proposals, in improving the character of the approach to the Palace from 

the north and restoring the historic views of the Orangery yard with the 

reintroduction of an enclosure, ensures improvements to the wider setting 

of Kensington Palace itself. While the majority of the extension and Orangery 

yard wall will be screened from view by existing trees, glimpses of the garden 

wall will denote the sense of a domestic cultivation and horticulture, 

foreshadowing the formal gardens to the south of the Orangery which form a 

key part of the Palace’s setting. As noted, key views to the Orangery’s 

principle façade from the Palace will be maintained and the extent of the 

proposals are limited to the historic footprint of the Orangery yard, in this 

way safeguarding against any encroachment upon the original park land and 

principal setting of the Palace. 

Impact to the Upper Stables, Grade II listed 

The Upper Stables, Grade II listed, is situated directly to the west of the 

Orangery. As noted the listed building principally relates to the recreation 

field to the north and the structure is orientated on an east-west axis. This 

orientation means that the proposals will not intrude on primary views from 

the building and the buildings relationship to its setting will remain entirely 

intact. There is a degree of inter-visibility from the buildings easternmost 

elevation overlooking the site across the boundary wall towards the 

Orangery yard. It is considered that the consolidation of the ancillary 

buildings which have resulted in the cluttered appearance of this yard area 

will be of wider benefit to the setting of the Upper Stables. Consequently, 

while the reconstruction of the rear garden enclosure will introduce a new 

materiality in views from the building to the east, this will have a neutral 

impact on the building’s significance.  

Impact to Kensington Place Gardens, Grade II and Grade II* listed.  

With regards to the seven Grade II and two Grade II* listed buildings located 

along Kensington Palace Gardens, as above the proposals will minimise the 

visual intrusion created by long views of the ancillary buildings and 

temporary marquees constructed to the north of the Orangery by providing 

adequate service and storage provision for events. Equally, the scheme has 

been designed to incorporate classical Queen Anne style detailing ensuring 

that the visible character of the built environment remains consistent. 

Consequently, the proposals constitute a neutral change in the character of 

the views from the rear of the properties along Kensington Palace Gardens, 

preserving their open setting. 
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This Built Heritage Statement has been prepared by CgMs (part of the RPS 

Group) on behalf of Historic Royal Palaces (HRP) in support of the proposed 

conservation, alteration and extension of the Grade I listed Orangery at 

Kensington Palace. 

The proposals seek the formalisation of the historic yard to the rear of the 

Orangery. At present, the yard accommodates a mix of low quality 

landscaping, hard standing and twentieth century ancillary buildings 

associated with the operation of the Orangery. The assessment of the 

historical development of the Orangery and its surroundings provided within 

this report, in addition to an analysis of the available historic mapping, has 

revealed that historically this yard area was surrounded by an enclosure and 

utilised to service the Orangery building, as identified within Figure 29, page 

18. The historic mapping further illustrates that the rear yard to the Orangery 

has undergone numerous changes since the building’s construction with a 

number of structures attached to the northern elevation and reconfigured 

throughout the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. This has resulted in a 

distinctly separate, subservient and inconsistent character compared to the 

considered drama and detail of the principle façade. As such the Orangery 

yard is currently read as a transient area of development, reflecting its use as 

a service yard. This character has been noted to exacerbate the ‘back of 

house’ quality of the immediate surrounding landscape, leading to the 

anomalous underuse of this particular area of the park. Consequently, a lack 

of a sense of place and consistent character commensurate with the 

significance of the area and proximity to the Palace complex is appreciable.    

It is thus considered that the rear of the Orangery presents an obvious and 

historically appropriate location for new accommodation for HRP and the 

Royal Ceremonial Dress Collection. As well as housing this facility, the 

proposals also present an opportunity to resolve the cluttered appearance of 

the yard area. This will, specifically, see the removal of the twentieth century 

extensions which presently diminish the ability to appreciate the significance 

of the building through their untidy aspect which masks the original historic 

and intrinsic relationship between both the Orangery and the surrounding 

parkland, as well as between the Orangery and the yard itself. This will be 

achieved whilst providing adequate storage and amenity space for the use of 

the Orangery during events. This aspect to the design will afford the Council 

the opportunity to bring under the control of a planning permission the 

numerous and semi-permanent marquees which frequently envelop the 

northern facades. At present these features substantially obscure existing 

views of the principle building’s structure and limit the legibility of the 

Orangery’s orchestrated and significant relationship with the wider palace 

complex and surrounding park land.   

6.0 CONCLUSION 

 

they will be appreciable as sensitive and carefully considered additions which 

respond to the historic character of the internal scheme and do not appear 

visually distracting. Overall, this intervention will result in a degree of harm to 

the significance of the listed building, through the loss of historic fabric and 

an alteration to the historic character of the internal scheme. However, when 

considered as a whole, this harm is considered to be less than substantial and 

minor in nature and are necessary in order to enable the significant public 

and heritage benefits that the proposals offer.  

Overall, it is considered that the proposals comprise a sensitive and 

responsive high quality architectural design which through the reinstatement 

of the historic yard enclosure, redesign of the south lawn, consolidation of 

the rear ancillary buildings and restoration of the internal volume, will induce 

a better understanding of the Orangery and original layout of the Site in views 

to the building from both the north and south. Internally the careful 

consideration of the extension’s circulation ensures that the experience of 

the building from within the existing structure and the appreciation of its 

decorative baroque interior will remain unchanged. While visibility of the rear 

north elevation will be partially reduced, it is acknowledged that views 

through to the fabric of the principle building will remain. Additionally it is 

considered that this impact upon views to the building from the north is 

outweighed by the significant enhancement to the building incurred by the 

consolidation of the twentieth century ancillary buildings attached to 

the northern elevation. In this regard, the proposals are thus considered to 

constitute an enhancement to the significance of the Orangery.  

Furthermore, it has been identified that the Orangery is located in a highly 

designated area: within the grounds of the Grade I listed Registered Park and 

Garden, Kensington Gardens; in the vicinity of a number of Grade II and II* 

listed buildings in addition to forming a key part of the setting of the Grade I 

listed Kensington Palace; and falling within the Kensington Palace 

Conservation Area. As such, the approach to the proposed developed has 

included a careful and considered approach to both the location, scale and 

design of the new accommodation for HRP. As discussed previously, the rear 

yard of the Orangery presents an appropriate location, confining the 

extension to the proportions of the historic yard. The creation of a single 

storey above ground, allows for both the reinterpretation of the historic 

enclosure and the ‘tidying up’ and enhancement of this currently somewhat 

haphazard back-of-house area, whilst also ensuring minimal visual impact on 

the significance and settings of the surrounding heritage assets. With regard 

to the Grade I listed Park and Garden and the Grade I listed Kensington Palace 

(also Scheduled Monument), both considered to be of high national 

The proposals seek the creation of a new building of the highest quality architectural 

design, which will have the appearance of a single storey building above ground, 

replicating the appearance of the historic yard enclosure and in keeping with the 

Baroque style of the wider Palace, thus drawing on a considered understanding of the 

development of the Site. Its location to the rear of the Orangery will also ensure that 

there is minimal impact on the character and significance of the building, which is 

principally derived from its grand southern façade and reinforced by the flanking 

western and eastern elevations. As noted the rear, northern façade of the building is 

distinctly different in character, currently possessing a less architecturally decorated 

character that is reflective of the use of the yard as a nursery and greenhouse. Thus 

the provision of a sympathetic and historically informed extension within this area is 

seen as wholly appropriate in heritage terms.  

Furthermore, it is considered that the primary setting of the Orangery, defined by 

Historic England as the landscape in which the significance of a building is 

appreciated, is principally formed by the formal gardens to the south of the building. 

Thus the proposed extension, located to the rear of the Orangery will have no impact 

upon this relationship, reducing its overall impact to the wider setting of the building 

as a whole. Kensington Gardens, and indeed the area to the north of the Orangery, 

also form part of the building’s wider setting, however, the extension is limited to the 

historic extent of the yard and therefore constitutes no encroachment upon the 

original open setting of the building to the rear. Likewise the replacement of the 

present landscaping to the south, which presently obscures views of the main façade, 

with a sensitively designed and historically informed garden that refers to and better 

reveals the historic relationship of the Orangery and south lawn, is considered to be a 

considerable enhancement to the significance of both the Orangery and registered 

park and garden.  

It is acknowledged that the proposals will result in the requirement for the 

installation of new openings to the northern elevation to enable access from the 

historic building to the new extension. The location and extent of these openings has 

been informed and selected through detailed investigative works and discussions 

with Historic England, to ensure minimal physical and visual impact upon both the 

historic fabric and the prevailing symmetrical internal design of the listed building. As 

such, the proposed locations represent an appropriate and well considered balance 

between looking to preserve the most historically significant fabric and retaining the 

visual balance of the late-nineteenth century panelling. Consequently, the proposed 

locations of the doors either side of the central apse are asymmetrical but in line with 

the timber panelling. This will result in a satisfactory visual relationship with the 

remainder of the interior whilst resulting in minimal loss to the external blind 

windows on the northern elevation; the obscured early eighteenth century niches will 

remain preserved in situ. Furthermore, the detailed design of the doors is such that 
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importance, the proposals would fundamentally enable views of Kensington 

Gardens and the Palace within its setting to be retained with minimal visual 

change and impact. This would be achieved principally through the location 

and high quality design of the proposed extension which is grounded in the 

historic materiality and composition of the Site.  

Overall, the proposals represent an appropriate addition to the continued 

evolution of the Palace and its grounds. The proposed scheme would provide 

essential facilities to support the continuing conservation of the Palace and 

the operation of both the Orangery and the publicly accessible areas of the 

Palace. It will facilitate the re-provision of an element of the Royal Ceremonial 

Dress Collection to its rightful home, enabling students and professionals the 

ability to study and research the collection. The proposal will therefore 

ensure the level of existing public access to the Palace and grounds is 

maintained by providing the required support functions; provide enhanced 

facilities for the public in relation to The Orangery; and deliver replacement 

accommodation to enable access again to the Royal Ceremonial Dress 

Collection at Kensington Palace. 

On this basis, it is considered the that the proposals will assist in meeting the 

aims of the Council in maintaining and improving visitor facilities at 

Kensington Palace, and will ensure the most is made of the existing park and 

garden whilst engendering an overall enhancement to the historic 

significance of the Orangery itself. As such, it is considered that the proposals 

are in accordance with relevant legislation and national, strategic and local 

planning policy relevant to built heritage assets. The overall degree of harm 

to the Orangery as a designated heritage asset is considered to be less than 

substantial and of a minor nature and, as per Paragraph 134 of the NPPF, 

should be balanced against the considerable and varied public benefits of the 

scheme as well as the significant heritage benefits that the scheme presents. 

6.0 CONCLUSION 
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KENSINGTON PALACE 

List Entry Summary: 

This monument is scheduled under the Ancient Monuments and 

Archaeological Areas Act 1979 as amended as it appears to the Secretary of 

State to be of national importance.  

List entry Number: 1002038  

Date first scheduled: N/A 

Date of most recent amendment: N/A 

Legacy System: RSM - OCN 

UID: LO 53 

Details: This record has been generated from an "old county number" (OCN) 

scheduling record. These are monuments that were not reviewed under the 

Monuments Protection Programme and are some of our oldest designation 

records. As such they do not yet have the full descriptions of their 

modernised counterparts available. Please contact us if you would like further 

information. 

National Grid Reference: TQ 25867 80029  

 

As identified on the adjacent Historic England map, the extent of the 

Scheduled Monument is not clearly defined. 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A: STATUTORY LIST DESCRIPTIONS: SCHEDULED MONUMENTS—KENSINGTON PALACE 
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ORANGERY AT KENSINGTON PALACE  

List Entry No.: 1223783   

Grade: I  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969  

Orangery. Wren 1704. Red and amber brick. One storey, 13 bays. 

Symmetrical. Three centre bays set forward with split segmental pediment. 

Fine interior.  

 

 

APPENDIX B: STATUTORY LIST DESCRIPTIONS: LISTED BUILDINGS 

UPPER STABLES 

List Entry No.: 1223936  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 07-Nov-1984 

Former stables, now residence. Late C18 or early C19. Yellow brick, green 

slate hipped roof to bracketed eaves. Portland stone footings. Two storeys, 

seven windows wide, with centre 3 slightly advanced beneath hipped gable. 

Arcades to ground floor largely blind but with thermal windows to heads. 

Central entrance. 

KENSINGTON PALACE  

List Entry No.: 1223861  

Grade: I  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969  

Royal Palace. Originally built 1661 for Sir Heneage Finch, first Earl of Nottingham. 

Bought by William III, 1689 and renamed Kensington House. New Buildings by Sir 

Christopher Wren 1689-1695. Alterations and additions 1718-1726 and later, 

including State Rooms by William Kent. 
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COPE HOUSE 

List Entry No.: 1224081  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 14-May-1984 

House, formerly stables to No 15. 1854-6, architect James Thomas Knowles 

Snr (1806-84), for George Moore, lace manufacturer and philanthropist; 

contractors Lucas Brothers and Stevens of Lambeth. Converted to house 1937

-8, architects J. Fooks and T. Ritchie. Brick faced in stucco, Welsh slated 

hipped roofs to wings, those of centre concealed by balustraded parapet, 

stuccoed chimney stacks with modillion cornices. Central block originally 

stables, with tack rooms and lofts in north wing, and coach house in south 

wing. Two storeys, Italianate style, matching the main house on a smaller 

scale. Ground floor rusticated and vermiculated, with pulvinated frieze, and 

modillion cornice at first floor level, first floor with rusticated quoins. Slit 

windows on ground floor, arched openings on first floor, some blank, with 

modelled keystones, and aedicules with segmental pediments carried on 

moulded consoles. Frieze and bold overhanging cornice with bracket 

modillions. Modern windows in centre. Ground floor continues from north 

wing as screen wall, surmounted by balustrade, concealing former stable yard 

from garden of No.15, breaks forward with arched opening with horse's head 

modelled on keystone. Continuation of screen wall opened out to form 

colonnade in 1980s. Low screen wall surmounted by balustrade runs west 

along carriage drive, and now forms property boundary. Interior much-

altered and not inspected. House and stables were virtually unchanged when, 

in December 1923, the lease was assigned to Daniel William Fooks. His widow 

surrendered the lease in January 1938, on condition that the property was 

divided, and she was given the lease of the stables for residential conversion. 

The main house was leased by Sir Alfred Beit, son of the financier and 

philanthropist Sir Otto Beit, and internally remodelled by Lord Gerald 

Wellesley and Trenwith Wills in 1937-8. The property was divided along the 

line of the old screen wall south of the house. Further alterations took place 

in the 1980s. 

 

 

APPENDIX B: STATUTORY LIST DESCRIPTIONS: LISTED BUILDINGS 

6 AND 7, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1223939  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Houses. 1844-6. T H Wyatt and Brandon. Semi-detached pair of dwelling 

houses forming symmetrical composition. Stucco. Italianate. Three storeys 

and basement. Altogether 7 windows wide, the central one blind. Square bay 

window to outer bay on either side. Square headed windows. Pediments to 

first floor windows. Central windows with Ionic and Corinthian orders. 

Cornice and openwork parapet. Return facades to left and right also of 

interest, with entrances. Interior not seen. 

 

9, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1224035  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Substantial house. 1852-4. S Smirke. Stucco. Three storeys and dormers. 

Three bays in main block. Ground floor has square bay windows either side of 

entrance with continuous balcony over supported by Tuscan columns. First 

floor windows are 3-light with entablatures with cambered pediments. 

Crowning cornice with balustraded parapet. Free treatment of classical style. 

Interior not seen. 

 

10, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1267053  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Substantial House. Mid C19. P Hardwick. Altered 1896 and 1903. Italian 

Renaissance style. Two storeys + attic which has 3-bay tall pediment with 

bull's eye window in tympanum. Deep bracket cornice under attic storey. 

Central 3 windows break forward with one storey bays either side all with 

long and short chamfered stone quoins. Entrance is not central but on left 

hand side with flight of steps disappearing under low segmental arch. Interior 

not seen. 

 

 

6 and 7 

9 

10 
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11, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1224065  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Substantial house. 1852-4. S Smirke. Faced in stucco. Eclectic design 

combining a more or less Italianate front with a "Chambord" skyline. Three 

storeys + attic. Ground floor square bay windows either side of entrance with 

portico supported by coupled fluted Corinthian columns. Balustraded 

balconies above. Three-light windows on first floor. Single windows on second 

floor. Enriched frieze, dentil cornice and parapet including large pedimented 

dormers. Extensions to left and right. Area balustrade. Interior not seen. 

 

12, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1223941  

Grade: II*  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

GV II* Substantial house. After 1844. By Banks and Barry. Pure High-

Renaissance Italian style. Faced in golden coloured ashlar with long and short 

chamfered quoins, enriched frieze, modillion cornice, overhanging eaves. Flat 

pitched hipped roof. Three storeys. Five windows with moulded stone 

architraves, those on ground floor having cambered pediments on consoles. 

Central segmental arched entrance with Ionic columns. Band course at first 

floor level only. Interior not seen. 

 

12A, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1224080  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Substantial house. 1863-5. By James Murray. Faced in ashlar. Three storeys. 

Symmetrical elevation of 7 bays with central doorway flanked by rusticated 

columns with continuous entablature with Greek-Key frieze running over bay 

windows either side, and which are repeated on first floor with similar 

enrichments. Second floor has giant cornice with honeysuckle frieze, 

balustraded parapet and mansard roof. Cast iron conservatory to right hand 

with arched windows. Area balustrade. Interior not seen. 

 

APPENDIX B: STATUTORY LIST DESCRIPTIONS: LISTED BUILDINGS 

13, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1266971  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Substantial house. 1851-3 by C J Richardson. Brick with stone dressings. 

Gothic style. Symmetrical elevation with central tower. Open parapet with 

Gothic tracery. Two storeys + basement. 4:3:4. Sash windows. Central oriel 

window with cusped transoms and open quatrefoils in parapet. Corners have 

diagonal buttresses. Central entrance with 4-centred arch and Gothic canopy. 

Interior not seen. 

14, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1266973  

Grade: II  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

Substantial house. 1850-1. T Cubitt remodelled later. Faced in stucco. Three 

storeys, attic and basement. Rusticated quoins and grooving on ground floor, 

which has bay windows either side of portico with Ionic columns. Three 

windows on first floor with pediments and enriched with swags of laurel 

leaves. Second floor window Keystones break into crowning frieze. Attic 

storey has central oval windows. Interior not seen. 

 

15, KENSINGTON PALACE GARDENS 

List Entry No.: 1224113  

Grade: II*  

Date first listed: 15-Apr-1969 

House, 1854-6, architect James Thomas Knowles Snr. (1806-84), for George 

Moore, lace manufacturer and philanthropist, contractor Lucas Brothers and 

Stevens of Lambeth. Alterations 1937-8, internal remodelling by Lord Gerald 

Wellesley and Trenwith Wills, for Sir Alfred Beit, financier and philanthropist.  

EXTERIOR: 2 storeys and attic, over basement. Stucco walls, with slated 

hipped roof above elaborate moulded modillion cornice. Italianate style, 

influenced by the West End Club buildings by Sir Charles Barry. Symmetrical 

plan, with a shallow entrance hall across the 3 central bays, and principal 

reception rooms left and right; first floor repeats the arrangement but with 
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central recess on rear (garden) front. Front has 7 bays, with extra bay at each 

side set back on ground floor, vermiculated rusticated walling. Timber mullion 

and transom casement windows in moulded architrave surrounds, 

surmounted by flat modillion heads carried on moulded consoles. Central 

projecting porch, approached by flights of stone steps, flanked by original cast

-iron lamp-posts and lanterns, has Roman Doric attached columns and 

entablature with modillion cornice. Twin leaf half-glazed doors and fanlight 

set within arched recess. Bold modillion cornice runs around building at first 

floor level, with moulded parapet, and balusters across windows, and free-

standing balustrading around flat roofs of wings, rusticated quoins at corners. 

7 sash windows, with large panes, within Corinthian aedicules, entablatures 

with pulvinated frieze and pediments with dentils. Moulded string course 

above windows defines main entablature, scaled to the overall height of the 

building. Architrave now pierced by 7 attic windows, inserted 1937-8; richly 

modelled Roman Corinthian frieze and cornice above.  

At ground level, a boldly coved Portland stone curb runs around the 

perimeter of the building, defining a narrow area providing light to the 

basement service rooms. Garden Front has vermiculated ground floor, with 3 

light segmental bows, with Grecian relief frieze panels above, centre slightly 

recessed, with triple arched central window, and plain sashes left and right, 

with full-width frieze panel above. Modillion cornice at first floor level, above 

which are pairs of aediculed windows, over the bows. The original deep 

central recess of the first floor was masked in 1937-8 by a screen linking the 

terminal facades. Blank antae left and right, with semi-circular niches 

containing large urns on pedestals, relief swags of fruit above; centre open 

with two Corinthian columns in antis, carrying simplified version of original 

entablatures, surmounted by two draped classical female figures (brought in 

from Bury St. Edmunds). South elevation has loggia to ground floor, 5 bays, 

with arches carried on unfluted Corinthian columns, above 7 stone steps. 

Glazing, including large sliding windows, inserted at rear in 1937-8. Basement 

Garage to north, with ramped approach, and polygonal forecourt, built 1937-

38.  

INTERIOR: Entrance Hall original of 1856, subdivided by marbled Ionic 

columns (now white-painted), originally with gilded caps, supporting an 

entablature with modillion cornice, and a heavy coffered ceiling. Relief panels 

over doors, and continuous modelled frieze facing stair at rear of hall. 

Staircase top-lit, stone, with lower flight having curtail treads projecting into 

the hall, main flight turns at right angles above quarter landing and is 

cantilevered out from wall; cast-iron balustrade of Grecian antefixae and 
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closets and dressing room; SE bedroom has delicate modelled Rococo-style 

plasterwork in panels around the walls, that on east wall framing pier glass; 

fireplace surround marble, within eared architrave surround, modelled frieze, 

Rococo-style plasterwork bordering architrave surround to pier glass above 

mantel. Service stair to Attics, spiral with cantilevered stone treads, cast-iron 

balusters, newel with lotus flowers, moulded hardwood rail. Basement 

contains original service rooms, pantries, stores either side of central 

corridor; kitchen and serveries to east. Former china store in centre of west 

side, with original cupboards.  

HISTORY: No 15 Kensington Palace Gardens was built on a site leased from 

the Crown Commissioners. In March 1852 it had been offered to Frederick 

Chinnor, then in February 1853 to S. W. Strickland, then finally to George 

Moore, who in July 1854 agreed to take it to build a single house costing 

about £10,000 (earlier negotiations had been on the basis of two houses). 

Moore's architect, James Thomas Knowles Snr., submitted plans to Sir James 

Pennethorne, the Commissioners' architect, which were approved in principle 

on 8 August. Lucas Brothers and Stevens of Lambeth began work on the 

house in December 1854, the ground lease was formally granted to Moore in 

November 1855, and the house was occupied. Moore was a self-made man, 

rising from a £30 p.a. draper's assistant in Soho to become the most 

important lace manufacturer in Britain. He confided to his biographer, Samuel 

Smiles, that he was mortified by the extravagance of building the house 'at 

the solicitation of Mrs Moore'. In 1937-38 the house was remodelled for Sir 

Alfred Beit, son of the financier and philanthropist Sir Otto Beit. Lord Gerald 

Wellesley and Trenwith Wills substituted a fashionable and slightly effete 

decorative scheme for the impressive solid Victorian originals, but left the hall 

and landing essentially unaltered, except for grisaille painted draperies, which 

have now been overpainted. During World War II, the Norwegian Ministry of 

Defence occupied the house. In 1949 it was leased as the Iraqi Ambassador's 

residence, which it remained until 1989. 

paterae, and moulded hardwood handrail. Landing treatment similar to hall, Library 

and Dining Room open off hall to north, both redecorated 1937-8. Library a pastiche 

of Bavarian Rococo, inspired by the libraries of the monasteries of Ottobeuren, 

Wiblingen and Melk, and designed as a setting for J. de Lajoue's painting 'The 

alchemist', which hung over the fireplace. Florid Corinthian pilasters frame book cases 

and carry an entablature with characteristic shallow convex-concave curves, along 

east-wall. Moulded cornice runs around remainder of room and over window heads, 

broken by the fireplace where shallow ogee panels sweep upwards to support a 

central corona. Fireplace has scrolled and eared architrave, with delicately carved 

fruit and flower swag, and diagonally-set Corinthian colonettes supporting a marble 

frieze and moulded mantel (based on the New Dining Room fireplace at Russborough 

House, Co. Wicklow). Inlaid parquet floor, with star motif, echoing that in the Lajoue 

painting. Dining Room, originally rectangular, but remodelled as elliptical plan in 1937

-8. Walls lined with fluted Corinthian pilasters supporting an entablature with 

swagged frieze and modillioned cornice. Between pilasters are six elaborate early C18 

style frame panels with swags and garlands, which originally housed six paintings by 

Murillo on the 'Parable of the Prodigal Son'. Similar panel above fireplace surmounted 

by broken swan-neck pediment. 8-panel doors with moulded architraves, richly 

modelled friezes and flat cornice-heads. Paired doors opposite fireplace have broader 

case and head surmounted by broken pediment. Deep coved ceiling, with centre rose 

of arms and trophies, modelled in relief, designed by Rex Whistler, with small holes, 

through which spotlights were directed to light the paintings. The decorative scheme 

is modelled on the work of William Kent. Drawing Room created in 1937-8, in centre 

of rear of house, originally occupied by a small morning room, service stair and strong 

room. Its artistic centrepiece was Vermeer's painting 'The Letter'. Mid C18 style with 

Ionic columns in antis and pilaster responds subdividing room. Central entablature 

with dentil frieze and modillion cornice may belong to original room, lit by central 

triple arched windows. Door architraves, plaster panels and swags of more delicate 

character, and fireplace, with its moulded architrave, panelled pilasters, and frieze 

with central relief panel of Roman figures may be an original C18 piece, brought in 

during the remodelling.  

Music Room occupies the whole south side and was remodelled 1937-8. Central part 

defined by fleur-de-peche marbled Corinthian columns in antis, carrying as 

entablature the bold modillioned cornice of the ceiling. Pedimented doorcases, and 

C18 fireplace surround. Loggia opens from music room through archway, and 

shuttered reveals of original windows. Glazed-in with large sliding windows in 1937-8. 

Bedrooms in pairs north and south of landing. NE and NW Bedrooms have C18 

fireplace surrounds; SW bedroom has a swagged and draped mirror above fireplace 

with marble bolection architrave, walls with boldly moulded raised and fielded panels 

in plaster, and doorcases with pulvinated friezes and cornices opening into central 
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KENSINGTON GARDENS  

List Entry No.: 1000340  

Grade: I 

Date first registered: 01-Oct-1987  

Pleasure grounds and park begun in the late C17 by George London and 

Henry Wise, incorporating land from Hyde Park, with development from the 

C18 by Charles Bridgeman and William Forsyth. 

 

NOTE: This entry is a summary. Because of the complexity of this site, the 

standard Register entry format would convey neither an adequate description 

nor a satisfactory account of the development of the landscape. The user is 

advised to consult the references given below for more detailed accounts. 

Many Listed Buildings exist within the site, not all of which have been here 

referred to. Descriptions of these are to be found in the List of Buildings of 

Special Architectural or Historic Interest produced by the Department of 

Culture, Media and Sport. 

 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Between 1536 and 1689 most of the land that later became Kensington 

Gardens was part of Hyde Park (qv). In 1689 Nottingham House, later to be 

named Kensington Palace, was bought from Daniel Finch, Earl of Nottingham 

as a convenient retreat for William III and Queen Mary. It was considered 

sufficiently removed from Westminster, yet more accessible than Hampton 

Court (qv). Christopher Wren (1632-1723) was commissioned to enlarge 

Nottingham House while George London (d 1714) and Henry Wise (1653-

1738), from the nearby Brompton Nurseries, were appointed to carry out 

works in the grounds, mainly gravelling walks. In 1689 the king's private road 

(now Rotten Row) was made from Kensington, through Hyde Park to 

Westminster. The elaborate design of the gardens made to the south of the 

Palace in 1690 and 1691 are shown on an engraving dated c 1706 (Jacques 

and van der Horst 1988). 

At the beginning of Queen Anne's reign (c 1702) Henry Wise alone was 

contracted to look after the gardens. Queen Anne removed the box hedges 

much beloved of Queen Mary. In 1704 Wise took over the kitchen garden and 

c 12ha of gravel pits north of the Palace which were made into a formal 

Wilderness of several quarters, one of them containing a mock mount of 

evergreens, another a sunken terrace garden. The next year 41ha was taken 
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characteristic of Kensington Gardens which only evolved in the late C19 and 

early C20 was its association with children, best symbolised by the statue of 

Peter Pan (1912). The children's playground north of the Palace was 

established in 1909. 

There were few innovations or changes in the period between the two world 

wars. The basic planting structure remained substantially the same although 

there were both losses and replacements. From 1919 the Round Pond 

became increasingly popular as a place for sailing model boats. During the 

Second World War most of the external and internal railings were removed 

and enemy bombs destroyed two lodges. In 1953-4 400 trees were felled, 

including 200 along the Broad Walk. The Broad Walk was replanted between 

1972 and 1981 with Norway Maple (Acer platanoides) and Lime (Tilia 

platyphyllos). 

Kensington Gardens remains (1999) a public open space managed by the 

Royal Parks Agency. The Palace continues to be used as a residence by 

members of the royal family. 

 

SUMMARY DESCRIPTION 

Kensington Gardens is situated in west London immediately to the west of 

Hyde Park. The gently undulating c 112ha site falls slightly from north to 

south and is bounded to the north by Bayswater Road and to the east by the 

West Carriage Drive of Hyde Park. Kensington High Street and Kensington 

Gore make up the south boundary, and Kensington Palace Green and the rear 

gardens of houses in Kensington Place Gardens the boundary to the west. 

There are a total of twenty-two gateways into Kensington Gardens and, in 

terms of public use, all except Queen's Gate, Coalbrookdale Gate, and Palace 

Gate, all to the south of the site, are for pedestrians only. The majority of the 

lesser entrances were constructed by 1890. Many of the actual gates, like the 

railings, were melted down in 1942 and now have late C20 replacements. 

Original gates and railings survive at the Magazine. 

Kensington Gardens, laid mainly to grass, are crossed by a number of paths 

which radiate from the gates and from points within the site. There are two 

major walks: Lancaster Walk which runs north/south across the centre of the 

site between Lancaster Gate to the north and the Albert Memorial (1872, 

listed grade I) on the southern boundary; and the Broad Walk which runs 

north/south between Bayswater (Black Lion Gate) and Knightsbridge (Palace 

Gate). Both walks are recorded on Bridgeman's plan of 1728 (reproduced in 

Willis 1977). The early C18 avenue of elms along the Broad Walk was replaced 

in 1954 with lime trees. 

from Hyde Park. This land, which also became Wise's responsibility, was used as a 

paddock to accommodate the royal deer and antelopes. By 1711 Wise, whose 

contract had been renewed five years earlier, considered the garden to be finished. 

The improvements had been complemented by the addition of ornamental buildings 

and garden furniture. After 1711 no more building works were undertaken by Queen 

Anne nor, for many years, by her successor George I. 

Between 1689 and 1727 Kensington Palace grew from the nucleus of Nottingham 

House and had became an important royal residence. In 1726, the year in which he 

was appointed Royal Gardener (along with Wise), Charles Bridgeman (d 1738) 

submitted estimates for new works in Kensington Gardens; these were undertaken 

between 1727 and 1731. Bridgeman created a ha-ha and new wall as a boundary with 

Hyde Park; constructed the Round Pond and the Long Water or Canal, and laid out 

the gardens. Most of the work was initiated by George I and completed after his 

death by George II and Queen Caroline. Queen Anne's flower borders were removed 

and replaced by lawns, plantations, promenades, and vistas. In 1728 Wise retired and 

Bridgeman became sole Royal Gardener, continuing working to improve and maintain 

the gardens. In 1733 Kensington Gardens was open to the public on Sunday nights. 

Charles Bridgeman died in 1738, the year after Queen Caroline, and Samuel Milward 

was appointed Chief Gardener at Kensington Palace and St James's Palace (qv). On 

the death of George II in 1760 Kensington Palace ceased to be the principal royal 

residence, an important factor in preserving the earlier layout rather than it being 

redeveloped (LUC 1982). 

In 1784 William Forsyth (one of the founder members of the Royal Horticultural 

Society) was appointed 'Gardener to the King at Kensington' and made a number of 

changes which included planting quantities of fruit trees in the west part of the Upper 

Wilderness (to the north of the Palace) and probably introducing a paddock for the 

royal horses. It is clear from the plans made by Forsyth (Kensington Palace and 

Gardens, 1787), that the sunk garden made by Wise, most of the Upper Wilderness, 

and all the serpentine walks had been lost by the mid 1780s. 

By the early C19 the gardens were open to the 'respectable' public every day. The 

increasing public access gave rise to expectations of facilities and entertainment 

similar to that which could be found in neighbouring Hyde Park. The Victorian and 

Edwardian period had a great impact on the site, this being a period of partial 

merging with Hyde Park. The first refreshment room opened in 1855 and the original 

bandstand in 1869. The number of drinking fountains and public lavatories increased 

and there was a proliferation of statues and monuments throughout the Victorian 

period. The 1840s saw the first of a number of nurseries on the site of the Mount 

which had been removed by this time. The use of the gardens for sheep grazing 

appears to have begun sometime in the first half of the C19. A particular 
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Kensington Palace (listed grade I) is set close to the western boundary. The 

brick-built palace has its origins as a small country house, Nottingham House, 

built c 1605. After it was bought by William III in 1689 the house was only 

gradually enlarged and did not become known as Kensington Palace until the 

C18. To the north of the Palace is the brick-built Orangery (listed grade I) 

constructed for Queen Anne in 1704. The Orangery was probably designed by 

Nicholas Hawksmoor, with some revisions by Vanbrugh (Cherry and Pevsner 

1991). The west front of the Palace overlooks Kensington Palace Green from 

which it is separated by tall iron railings. In front of the C18 entrance gates 

(listed grade II) stands a bronze statue of William III (listed grade II) erected in 

1907. The east front of the Palace overlooks lawns and a statue of Queen 

Victoria. To the north-east of the Palace is the early C20 Sunken Garden, 

decorated with herbaceous beds, and the Orangery Garden laid out at the 

same time but in the Dutch Style. 

The pleasure grounds to the east of the Broad Walk are dominated by two 

pieces of water: the c 3ha Round Pond and the Long Water. Both are based 

on existing bodies of water which are shown on a plan of 1706 attributed to 

Henry Wise. The plan shows an oblong basin of water to the west and a string 

of ten pools to the east. Between 1726 and 1728 the basin was enlarged to 

the shape of the Round Pond. A series of trout pools along the line of the 

Westbourne were linked to form the Long Water in 1727 (LUC 1982). The 

broader, longer Serpentine was made in Hyde Park in 1731, and the two were 

subsequently linked to form one water body. At the north end of the Long 

Water are the Italian Fountains (listed grade II); constructed in 1860 as part of 

The Serpentine cleaning works the fountains are set within four pools with 

elaborate urns. On the south side stone balustrades with carved roundels 

flank water nymphs attending the cascade down to the Long Water. 

Overlooking the fountains to the north is the single-storey Italianate shelter 

(listed grade II) which was built to house the pumping engine for the 

fountains. To the north-east of the shelter is Queens Anne's Alcove (listed 

grade II*). Constructed c 1706-7 and moved to this location in 1868, it 

formerly stood to the south of the Palace. 

The west bank of the Long Water is decorated with lawns, trees, and 

shrubberies amongst which stands Sir George Frampton's statue of Peter Pan 

(listed grade II*) which was erected in 1912. At the south end of the Long 

Water is the Serpentine Bridge (listed grade II) which carries the West 

Carriage Drive (the eastern boundary of the site), with pedestrian access to 

Hyde Park underneath it. The bridge was constructed 1825-8 by George 

Rennie who in 1828 brought the two pieces of water to the same level.  
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Figure 102: Locative Map. Source: Historic England 
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